
 

Lloyd White 
Head of Democratic Services 
London Borough of Hillingdon, 
3E/05, Civic Centre, High Street, Uxbridge, UB8 1UW 
www.hillingdon.gov.uk 

   

Corporate Services 
and Partnerships 
Policy Overview 
Committee 

 

   

Date: TUESDAY, 26 FEBRUARY 
2013 
 

Time: 7.30 PM 
 

Venue: COMMITTEE ROOM 5 - 
CIVIC CENTRE, HIGH 
STREET, UXBRIDGE UB8 
1UW 
 

  
Meeting 
Details: 

Members of the Public and 
Press are welcome to attend 
this meeting  
 

 

 
Councillors on the Committee 
 
Richard Lewis (Chairman) 
Michael White (Vice-Chairman) 

Beulah East (Labour Lead)  
Lindsay Bliss 
Neil Fyfe 

Raymond Graham 
Richard Mills 
Carol Melvin 
 

  
Published: 14 February 2013 

 
 
This agenda and associated 
reports can be made available 
in other languages, in Braille, 
large print or on audio tape on 
request.  Please contact us for 
further information.  
 

 Contact:  Khalid Ahmed 
Tel: 01895 250833 
Fax: 01895 277373 
Email: kahmed@hillingdon.gov.uk 

 
This Agenda is available online at:  
http://modgov.hillingdon.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=243&MId=1407&Ver=4 

Public Document Pack



 
 
 
 

 

Useful information 
 
Bus routes 427, U1, U3, U4 and U7 all stop at 
the Civic Centre. Uxbridge underground station, 
with the Piccadilly and Metropolitan lines, is a 
short walk away. Limited parking is available at 
the Civic Centre. For details on availability and 
how to book a parking space, please contact 
Democratic Services 
 
Please enter from the Council’s main reception 
where you will be directed to the Committee 
Room. An Induction Loop System is available for 
use in the various meeting rooms. Please contact 
us for further information.  
 
Please switch off any mobile telephones and 
BlackBerries™ before the meeting. Any 
recording of the meeting is not allowed, either 
using electronic, mobile or visual devices.  
 
If there is a FIRE in the building the alarm will 
sound continuously. If there is a BOMB ALERT 
the alarm sounds intermittently. Please make your way to the nearest FIRE EXIT.    
 

 



 

 
About this Committee 
 
This Policy Overview Committee (POC) will undertake reviews in the areas covered by 
the Deputy Chief Executive’s Office and Finance and Resources Directorate and can 
establish a working party (with another POC if desired) to undertake reviews if, for 
example, a topic is cross-cutting.  
 
This Policy Overview Committee will consider performance reports and comment on 
budget and service plan proposals for the Deputy Chief Executive’s Office and Finance 
and Resources Directorate. 
 
The Cabinet Forward Plan is a standing item on the Committee’s agenda.  
 
The Committee will not consider call-ins of Executive decisions or investigate individual 
complaints about the Council’s services. 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

 
 

Terms of Reference 
 

The Constitution defines the terms of reference for Policy Overview Committees as: 
 
1. To conduct reviews of policy, services or aspects of service which have either been 

referred by Cabinet, relate to the Cabinet Forward Plan, or have been chosen by the 
Committee according to the agreed criteria for selecting such reviews; 

 
2. To monitor the performance of the Council services within their remit (including the 

management of finances and risk); 
 

3. To comment on the proposed annual service and budget plans for the Council services 
within their remit before final approval by Cabinet and Council; 

 
4. To consider the Forward Plan and comment as appropriate to the decision-maker on 

key decisions which relate to services within their remit (before they are taken by the 
Cabinet); 

 
Policy Overview Committees will not investigate individual complaints. 
 
This Committee performs the Policy Overview role in relation to the following services: 
 
1. human resources and personnel service; 
 
2. e-Government and ICT; 
 
3. democratic services; 
 
4. legal services; 
 
5. the Council’s property portfolio, including property and asset acquisition and 

disposal, and capital programme; 
 
6. corporate finance, including:  

a. development of a medium term budget strategy; 
b. scrutiny of the Council’s management of its resources; 
c. reviewing the operation of the Council’s financial rules making proposals to the 

Cabinet and/or Council for their development 
 
7. the Council’s overall performance and corporate improvement work particularly in 

relation to the Comprehensive Performance Assessment and Corporate 
Assessment; 

 
8. economic development and single regeneration budget;  
 



 

9. the Local Strategic Partnership and Community Strategy;  
 

10. Local Area Agreement; 
 
11. community partnerships and the Council’s voluntary sector strategy; 
 
12. corporate aspects of diversity & equalities policy; 
 
13. Best Value; 
 
14. any other cross-cutting portfolios that might be created and any functions not 

included within the remit of the other Policy Overview Committees. 



 

Agenda 
 
 
 

1 Apologies 

2 Declarations of Interest 

3 Minutes of Meeting held on 6 February 2013 (Pages 1-4) 

4 Exclusion of Press and Public  

 To confirm the items of business marked Part I will be considered in public and that 
the items marked Part II will be considered in private.   

5 Major Review - Community Cohesion (Pages 5-36) 

6 Work Programme (Pages 37-40) 

7 Forward Plan (Pages 41-50) 



Minutes 
Corporate Services and Partnerships Policy 
Overview Committee 
Wednesday 6 February 2013 
Meeting held at Committee Room 6 - Civic Centre, 
High Street, Uxbridge UB8 1UW 
 

 

 Members Present: 
Councillors Richard Lewis (Chairman), Beulah East, Neil Fyfe, Raymond 
Graham, Kuldeep Lakhmana, Carol Melvin, Richard Mills and Michael White. 
 
Officers: 
Fran Beasley (Chief Executive and Corporate Director of Administration), Nancy 
Le Roux (Head of Corporate Finance), Gemma McNamara (Group Finance 
Manager), Ed Shaylor (Community Safety and Anti-Social Behaviour 
Investigations Service Manager) and Khalid Ahmed (Democratic Services 
Manager). 
 

29. MINUTES OF THE MEETING HELD ON 13 NOVEMBER 2012 
 
Agreed as an accurate record.  
 

30. EXCLUSION OF THE PRESS AND PUBLIC  
 
It was agreed that all items of business would be considered in public. 
 

31. BUDGET PROPOSALS REPORT FOR ADMINISTRATION & 
FINANCE SERVICES 2013/14 
 
The report set out the draft revenue budget and capital 
programme of the Administration and Finance Groups for 
2013/14, along with indicative projections for the following two 
years. 
 
Members were informed that the Council was looking to make 
significant savings of over £17m across the whole Council, with 
£1.051m of this from Administration and Finance Services. The 
savings proposals contained within the draft budget were being 
achieved through service efficiencies without impacting on the 
level of service provided. Reference was made to £843,000 of 
those proposals already implemented to ensure full year effect 
of savings in 2013/14. 
 
Reference was made to the increased income which had been 
generated from the Election and Registration Services Review 
and this was welcomed. 
 
The Chief Executive indicated that there had never been a 
more challenging time in which to plan the Council's finance, 
due to the level and complexity of the legislative programme, 
including the whole financing structure of local authorities, 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Agenda Item 3

Page 1



coupled with reductions in funding and the transition of new 
responsibilities to local government.  Nonetheless, Hillingdon 
was in a good financial position and the level of balances has 
ensured that the Council has the flexibility to respond to the 
present circumstances in a planned and rationale way.   
 
Discussion took place on the savings within the Groups and in 
particular the review of the Social Worker Development 
Programme and the Committee was informed that the Council 
was no longer giving bursaries but were investing in social 
workers development to enable the Council to get long term 
benefit. Reference was made to Graduate schemes which 
came with Government Grants and officers said they would 
investigate this and reply to Members. 
 
Members congratulated officers for the work which had been 
carried out in the preparation of the budget and recognised the 
sound financial management which existed at Hillingdon; 
sound financial management which was the envy of other 
Councils. 
 
Despite the financial difficulties that all local authorities were 
experiencing, reference was made to the huge capital 
programme of this Council which included investment on 
Primary Schools and Libraries. 
 
Members noted the £230k contingency which had been held to 
make up the shortfall in income from schools for payroll 
services and the Committee was informed that this had now 
been included in the budget to provide a permanent solution. 
 
Budget Comments from other Policy Overview 
Committees 
 
The Committee considered and agreed that the comments 
from this Committee and the Council’s other Policy Overview 
Committees on the Budget proposals be submitted to the 
Cabinet meeting on 14 February 2013. 
 
RESOLVED –  
 

1. That the budget projections contained in the report be 
noted. 

 
2.  That the comments made on the combined budget 

proposals put forward by the Administration and 
Finance Groups, be forwarded to the Cabinet meeting 
on 14 February, together with all the other Policy 
Overview Comments on their respective service areas.        

  
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Khalid 
Ahmed 

Page 2



32. MAJOR REVIEW  - COMMUNITY COHESION  
 
The Committee agreed to defer consideration of this item to 
enable the Corporate Head of Communications to attend the 
next meeting to help the Committee finalise its review.    
 

 

33. CONSIDERATION OF NEXT REVIEW TOPIC – POLICING 
 
The Council’s Anti Social Behaviour & Investigations Service 
Manager attended the meeting and provided Members with 
options for potential review topics relating to Policing. 
 
Reference was made to School Police Officers that were 
assigned to schools in the Borough and the Committee 
expressed an interest in finding out more about this partnership 
and what the School Police Officers role was. It was agreed 
that this would be single meeting review to enable Members to 
gain an understanding about the role of these Police Officers 
and the difference they were making in terms of reducing crime 
and anti-social behaviour. 
 
The Committee was informed that the Council, working in 
partnership with the Police, funded both Police Officers and 
equipment (CCTV vehicle) and the Committee agreed that this 
would be their next major review. The Committee would want 
to know what equipment the Council funded, was it effective, 
what influence, if any, did the Council have on its deployment. 
 
Members also asked that the scope of the review should also 
include looking at the impact the free burglar alarms to the over 
65s as had on crime levels within the Borough. 
 
RESOLVED –  
 

1.   That the information provided by Council’s Anti Social 
Behaviour & Investigations Service Manager be noted 

 
2.  That a single meeting review take place on the role of 

School Police Officers and their success in reducing 
crime and anti-social behaviour in schools. 

        
3.   That this Committee’s next major review be on the 

equipment this Council funds for the Police to use within 
the Borough, and the effectiveness of it. 

 
4.   That officers prepare a draft scoping report for Members  

to discuss at their meeting on 28 March 2013. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Ed Shaylor / 
Khalid 
Ahmed 
 
 
 
 
 
Ed Shaylor / 
Khalid 
Ahmed 

34. WORK PROGRAMME 
 
Noted.  

 

 
 
 

Page 3



35. CABINET FORWARD PLAN 
 
Noted. 
 

 

 Meeting commenced at 7.30pm and closed at 8.55pm 
Next meeting: 26 February 2013 at 7.30pm       

 

These are the minutes of the above meeting. For more information on any of the resolutions 
please contact Khalid Ahmed on 01895 250833. These minutes are circulated to Councillors, 
Officers, the Press and Members of the Public.  
  

Page 4



 
Corporate Services & Partnership Policy Overview Committee – 26 February 

2013 
Part I – Members, Public and Press 

 

MAJOR REVIEW – COMMUNITY COHESION – FINAL WITNESS SESSION 
AND CONSIDERATION OF RECOMMENDATIONS OF THE REVIEW  
  
     

      Contact Officer: Khalid Ahmed  
Telephone: 01895 250833 

REASON FOR ITEM   
  
To hear from the Corporate Head of Communication as part of the 
Committee’s major review into Community Cohesion and to receive a draft of 
the review’s final report 
 
OPTIONS OPEN TO THE COMMITTEE   
  

1. Question the Corporate Head of Communications as part of the review. 
 

2. With the guidance of officers to suggest recommendations for the 
review and any other changes, amendment or additions to the final 
report.  
 

 
INFORMATION  
 
1.   This is the final witness session for the Committee’s review into 

Community Cohesion and in particular how Council’s services were 
accessed by all individuals of all backgrounds and groups and sections of 
the community. At the meeting of the Committee held on 13 November 
2012 Members heard from the Chair of Hillingdon’s Inter Faith Network 
and a representative from the Afghan’s Women’s Group on their 
perception of how were Council’s services communicated to groups in the 
Borough.  

 
2.  In addition the Committee received a written report from the Corporate 

Head of Communications which provided details of how the Council was 
communicating effectively with all the Borough’s communities, helping to 
ensure integration and cohesion (Appendix 1).   

 
3. Discussion took place on how the Council’s services were communicated 

and the Committee requested further advice on how this could be 
improved. A suggestion was made for the Council to provide information 
for groups to produce their own newsletters which would include 
information on Council services which would be readily available. This 
information needed to be timely and include advanced warning of events 
and activities.  

 
4.   Members agreed that the challenge was getting messages across to those 

groups and people who did not normally engage with public authorities. 
The Council’s website and Hillingdon People provided good opportunities 

Agenda Item 5

Page 5



 
Corporate Services & Partnership Policy Overview Committee – 26 February 

2013 
Part I – Members, Public and Press 

 

for the Council to reach out to all people and to promote greater integration 
and interaction of all individuals. However, the Committee wished to hear 
from Corporate Communications on other possible means of enabling 
communities to find out about Council services.    

   
Witnesses 
 
5. John Seekings, the Council’s Corporate Head of Communications has 

been invited to attend this meeting to help the Committee with its review.  
 
6.   Members will also be asked to give consideration to the recommendations 

of the review. To assist Members, a draft copy of the review’s final report 
is attached to this report. The final report includes all the details of the 
evidence received to date and themes which Members could consider with 
regard to possible recommendations. 

   
PAPERS WITH THE REPORT 
 
Written report from the Corporate Head of Communications (Appendix 1) 
Draft Final Report (Appendix 2) 
 

Page 6



APPENDIX 1 

Corporate Services & Partnerships POC  26 February 2013 
PART I – MEMBERS, PUBLIC & PRESS 

 
 

WRITTEN EVIDENCE TO THE CORPORATE SERVICES POC REVIEW OF 
COMMUNITY COHESION FROM THE COUNCIL’S CORPORATE 
COMMUNICATIONS SERVICE 
 
Introduction 
 
The Committee has asked that Corporate Communications provide 
information on two areas: 
 
1.  How Corporate Communications promotes services to all residents in the 
borough 
2. How Corporate Communications is keeping hard to reach groups informed 
to help promote integration and cohesion 
 
1. Communicating with residents 
 
Corporate Communications role is to help increase public and other 
stakeholder understanding of the services and policies of the Council.  This is 
done in three key ways: 
 
Core activities - including media relations, publications (such as Hillingdon 
People), corporate branding, marketing (leaflets, posters and displays) and 
digital media. 
 
Campaigns – these are linked to key service priorities and range from fully 
integrated campaigns (which includes some or all of the above) to event-
based or public information campaigns.  
 
Consultation and engagement – to help us understand current residents’ 
views, satisfaction levels and thinking on specific policy issues or services. 
 Examples include the annual residents’ survey or the recent consultation on 
changes to council tax benefits. 
 
2. Engaging with hard to reach groups 
 
We work hard to ensure we are communicating effectively with all our 
communities, helping to ensure integration and cohesion.  Below are some 
examples of how we are engaging with individuals from different backgrounds 
and hard to reach groups, either through our day-to-day activities or targeted 
projects. 
 
Hillingdon People 
Our residents’ magazine is published six times a year and distributed door-to-
door to all of the borough’s 113,000 households as well as libraries, leisure 
centres, nursing homes and public buildings to ensure everyone in the 
borough is kept well informed about the council’s services.    
 
Large print and audio versions are also produced and delivered to residents 
requesting these services.  For those that would prefer to read HP online we 

Page 7



APPENDIX 1 

Corporate Services & Partnerships POC  26 February 2013 
PART I – MEMBERS, PUBLIC & PRESS 

 
 

publish a PDF and digital version.  We use plain English and adhere to Royal 
National Institute of Blind People guidelines to ensure wide accessibility. 
 Finally, each edition carries a contacts list for key council services so that 
residents have a ready reference for information. 
 
Web and digital media 
We have recently overhauled the website with improved design, navigation, 
functionality and content to deliver a first class customer service.  The site is 
DDA (Disability Discrimination Act) and Equality Act 2010 compliant and 
meets the accessibility guidelines issued by the Worldwide Web Consortium. 
 
Over 40,000 residents are registered to report or request information online, 
which is a sizeable proportion of our population. In rolling out the self-service 
option we have been monitoring take up from across communities and it 
reflects the profile of the borough well.  To further improve accessibility a 
mobile version of the website will be launched at the end of November.  We 
also have a Young Hillingdon version of the website, and get the Youth 
Council involved in making decisions for the site.  
 
Residents of all ages follow the council using social media such as Facebook, 
Twitter and YouTube, which we use to explain, warn and inform – as well as 
encourage residents to get involved in consultations. 
 
Campaigns and marketing 
We produce a wide range of marketing materials including posters and 
leaflets for services and events for older people and those with disabilities. 
We support programmes for younger people such as FIESTA and the Kids in 
Care Awards and extensive campaigns for fostering and adoption to support 
children in need. 
 
The majority of our priority one campaigns are aimed at all residents and care 
is taken to ensure inclusion regardless of age, social background, gender, 
disability, ethnicity and sexuality. Recent examples include the council’s anti-
social behaviour (ASB) campaign which had the potential to unfairly feature 
young people as the main perpetrators of ASB and to reinforce negative 
stereotypes. It was also important to ensure that older people weren’t featured 
as the primary target of ASB as is often portrayed in the media. A campaign 
was therefore created using non age or gender specific characters instead of 
people and articles featured residents of all ages a backgrounds. 
 
Change 4Life Hillingdon and Feel PROUD campaigns were also targeted at 
all residents and featured residents of all ages highlighting the campaign 
through their own unique perspectives to help all residents identify with the 
campaign.  
 
All campaign and marketing work is designed to be accessible by the widest 
possible range of residents and we work hard with departments where 
specific tailoring is needed to meet specific residents’ service needs. This 
approach is also adopted in service areas that reach out to all residents such 

Page 8



APPENDIX 1 

Corporate Services & Partnerships POC  26 February 2013 
PART I – MEMBERS, PUBLIC & PRESS 

 
 

as our libraries and care is taken to ensure that these outlets are used as key 
communication channels. 
 
Branding 
The council’s branding guidelines call for all communications to be as clear 
and easy to understand as possible. Signage is designed to be uncluttered 
with a simple point of contact online or by telephone. We consider the needs 
of visually impaired residents with DDA compliant signs where appropriate.   
 
 

Page 9



Page 10

This page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX 2 - DRAFT 14/02/2013 

 
 

    
 

Community Cohesion 
Report of the Corporate Services & 

Partnerships Policy Overview Committee 
2012/13 

 

 
Week of Peace 2012, Schools Community Choir, Hillingdon Inter Faith Network, 

Metropolitan Police and LBH working together 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

Page 11



APPENDIX 2 - DRAFT 14/02/2013 

 
 

 

    

       

 Members of the Committee 
Cllr Richard Lewis (Chairman) 
Cllr Michael White (Vice-Chairman) 
Cllr Beulah East 
Cllr Neil Fyfe 
Cllr Lindsay Bliss 
Cllr Raymond Graham 
Cllr Richard Mills 
Cllr Carol Melvin

Page 12



 

 
Corporate Services & Partnerships Policy Overview Committee 
 
Draft Final Report on the Community Cohesion review 

 
 
 

1 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Contents 
 
 

         
Chairman’s Foreword 
 
 

Page  

Recommendations  
     

Page  

  
Background 
 
 

Page  

Objectives 
 
 
 

Page  

Information and Analysis 
 
 
  

Page  

Evidence and Enquiry 
 
 
 

Page  

  
 
 
 

 
 

Page 13



 

 
Corporate Services & Partnerships Policy Overview Committee 
 
Draft Final Report on the Community Cohesion review 

 
 
 

2 

Chairman’s Foreword 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
Councillor Richard Lewis – Chairman of the Corporate Services & 
Partnerships Policy Overview Committee  
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 14



 

 
Corporate Services & Partnerships Policy Overview Committee 
 
Draft Final Report on the Community Cohesion review 

 
 
 

3 

 
 

RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
 

Page 15



 

 
Corporate Services & Partnerships Policy Overview Committee 
 
Draft Final Report on the Community Cohesion review 

 
 
 

4 

 

BACKGROUND 
 
 What is community cohesion? 
 
Community cohesion is not a precise term and can be interpreted in many 
ways. Broadly speaking it is about creating a sense of belonging, valuing 
diversity, tackling inequalities and promoting interaction to develop positive 
relationships within a community. 
 
The Institute of Community Cohesion uses the definition:   
“community cohesion is widely used to describe a state of harmony or 
tolerance between people from different backgrounds living within a 
community. Linked to the concept of social capital and the idea that if we 
know our neighbours and contribute to community activity then we are more 
likely to look out for each other, increase cohesion and minimise cost of 
dependency on institutional care”. 
 
Hillingdon has become more diverse with many areas seeing the proportion of 
white and ethnic minority communities more evenly spread. At the same time 
the Borough is experiencing increases in the number of young people and a 
growing older population. 
 
The initial results of the 2011 Census provides evidence of this INSERT 
STATISTICS 
 
The impact of the economic downturn has inevitably placed a strain on 
families and communities as resources are reduced and opportunities for 
employment and prosperity become more limited.  Threats from extremism 
and terrorism are still real and can cause conflict, tensions, prejudice and 
misunderstanding within communities.   
 
Hillingdon’s approach has been not only to understand what our community 
cohesion challenges are in Hillingdon and where in the Borough, risks to 
community cohesion are greatest.  But that it is also equally important to 
recognise where the positive contributions to community cohesion are taking 
place and promote greater opportunities for building on those positives and 
underpin the resilience within communities. Improving our knowledge of what 
works and what helps can reduce the risk. 
 
Such as: 

• Strong local leadership (political, community etc)   
• Strong communication activity/strategy to engage with local 
communities 

Page 16



 

 
Corporate Services & Partnerships Policy Overview Committee 
 
Draft Final Report on the Community Cohesion review 

 
 
 

5 

• Visible local initiatives 
• Developing a local sense of civic pride  
• Uniting local people on issues affecting the borough 
• Strong partnership approach to local solutions 
• Capacity building and sustainable approach to community engagement 
and community development which is inclusive and embraces the 
diversity of the borough 

 
In 2007, the Council’s External Services Scrutiny Committee carried out a  
review of community cohesion and made a number of recommendations 
including the importance of the Council in taking a leadership role in 
promoting community cohesion in the Borough with the involvement of local 
partners.   
 
In April 2009, the Strong and Active Communities Partnership was 
established as a theme group of the Local Strategic partnership –Hillingdon 
Partners,  responsible for delivering upon the key priorities around strong and 
active communities, setting out a vision for Hillingdon to be: 
“A Borough where communities are strong and cohesive and local people 
have a real opportunity to take an active part in local life, leisure and culture.”  
 
The partnership has established strong working relationships between the 
Council and its partners in responding to local community cohesion issues 
and developing pro-active and positive models of community development 
activities and engagement.  
 
The lead for facilitating the work of the partnership sits within the Partnerships 
Team in the Chief Executive and Administration Directorate and the work very 
much relies upon the relationships established with local communities, the 
voluntary sector and other statutory partners as well as other departments 
within the council to deliver this agenda.  
 
For this review, the Committee was assisted by the Council’s Stronger 
Communities Officer. 
 
  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 17



 

 
Corporate Services & Partnerships Policy Overview Committee 
 
Draft Final Report on the Community Cohesion review 

 
 
 

6 

OBJECTIVES  
 
Initially the review was to examine how Council services are working in order 
to mitigate against the potential risk factors that can impact upon community 
cohesion and build upon the positives that underpin resilience in communities. 
This would be with a particular focus in relation to perception of fairness, 
transparency and equality of access. However, the scope of the review 
changed and focussed on how the Council could reach out to more individuals 
from all backgrounds, particularly those groups and sections of the community 
who were difficult to engage with.   
 
In addition how were  Council’s services communicating with residents, 
beyond the promotion of services. Also what steps were taken to break down 
barriers to engage with groups which would enable the interaction and 
itegration with the rest of the Borough’s community.   
 
The Terms of Reference of the review were as follows: 
 

• To learn about community cohesion in Hillingdon 
• To understand the risk factors that undermine community cohesion 

• To assess the effectiveness of the positive work undertaken to promote 
community cohesion in Hillingdon. 

• To identify whether there are any particular issues or challenges that 
undermine community cohesion in Hillingdon. 

• To identify any measures that would address any issues identified 
above and would promote community cohesion in Hillingdon.  

 
Supporting the Cabinet & Council’s policies and objectives 
 
The review supported the work of the Council as part of its Equality Duties to 
ensure promotion of good relations. 
 
To deliver upon the objectives of the Sustainable Community Strategy with 
partners. 
 
To deliver excellent services to our residents and achieve our aim of putting 
residents first. 
 

Page 18



 

 
Corporate Services & Partnerships Policy Overview Committee 
 
Draft Final Report on the Community Cohesion review 

 
 
 

7 

 
 
INFORMATION AND ANALYSIS 
 
The Committee’s first meeting on the review took place on 24 July 2012 when 
Members received a presentation from the Council’s Stronger Communities 
Officer. This meeting set the context for Members in terms of what is 
Community Cohesion and what the Council is doing in terms of enabling all its 
residents to access Council services and also be more active within the 
borough and therefore promoting greater community cohesion. 
 
As previously mentioned there is no standard definition of community 
cohesion, however, community cohesion is about relationships within 
communities, and about addressing differences between people, that may 
sometimes cause division, misunderstanding or tensions that, in turn, affect 
the way that communities interact with one another and see themselves. This 
is not exclusive to ethnic or faith groups but can also include, for example, the 
perceptions of young people and anti-social behaviour or socio-economic 
differences and how they can influence social interactions and involvement in 
community life. 
 
Risk Factors 
  
Some of the challenges (or risk factors) to community cohesion include: 
 

• Rapidly changing demographics and diversity within localities. 
• The perception of the fairness of allocation of resources and provision 
of services to meet the needs of the whole community. 

• Socio-economic pressures on individuals, families and localities 
• Inequality of opportunity for individuals to achieve in education and 
employment. 

• Perceptions of crime and anti social behaviour within communities 
• The influence of extremist groups within communities that can promote 
tensions and influence individual’s perceptions of fairness and 
inequalities in communities. 

 
Positive factors 
 
Conversely, positive factors can build and strengthen community cohesion 
and these include the following:  
 

• Knowing and understanding who makes up our community and what 
their needs and concerns are. 

• Positive engagement through social, sport and cultural activities  

Page 19



 

 
Corporate Services & Partnerships Policy Overview Committee 
 
Draft Final Report on the Community Cohesion review 

 
 
 

8 

• Ensuring local people have a voice and a say in how services are 
delivered. 

• Ensuring fair access to services. 
• Open and transparent decision-making. 
• Designing services that enable individuals to take responsibility for their 
own well-being. 

 
National Policy Context  
 
The Government in February 2012 published its integration strategy: 
“Creating the conditions for integration” 
 
This strategy outlines the Government’s aim in promoting an integrated 
society, where everyone can play a full part in local and national life. Where 
people from different backgrounds treat each other with respect and 
contribute together. : “integration is achieved when neighbourhoods, families 
and individuals come together on issues which matter to them” 
 
The strategy has outlined the key factors for integration as: 
 
Common Ground : a clear sense of shared aspirations and values which 
focus on what we have in common rather than our difference. 
 
Responsibility: a strong sense of our mutual commitments and obligations, 
which bring personal and social responsibility 
 
Social mobility: people able to realise their potential to get on in life 
 
Participation and empowerment: people of all backgrounds have the 
opportunities to take part, be heard and take decisions in local and national 
life. 
 
Tackling intolerance and extremism: a robust response to threats, whether 
discrimination, extremism or disorder that deepen division and increase 
tensions. 
 
The Government highlight the link between community cohesion and 
integration, but issues relating to inequality and individuals experience are 
also important in enabling positive interaction and relationships in 
communities. 
 
Key Issues of the review 
 
The review initially started off with the aim of examining how Council services 
were working in order to mitigate against the community cohesion risk factors 
and building upon the positives that underpinned resilience in communities. 

Page 20



 

 
Corporate Services & Partnerships Policy Overview Committee 
 
Draft Final Report on the Community Cohesion review 

 
 
 

9 

However Members agreed that the review would focus on how the Council 
could reach out to more individuals of all backgrounds, particularly those 
groups and sections of the community who were difficult to engage with. The 
review was particularly interested in how the Council communicated what was 
available to the community, beyond the promotion of its services. What steps 
were taken to break down barriers to engage with groups which would enable 
them to interact and integrate with the rest of the community as well as 
access Council services. 
 
Positive Contributions 
 
The Committee understood the importance of recognising where the positive 
factors in building community cohesion were taking place and that these were 
promoted in order to create greater opportunities for underpinning the 
resilience within communities.  
 
These positive contributions included: 

• Strong local leadership (political, community etc)   
• Strong communication activity/strategy to engage with local 
communities 

• Visible local initiatives 
• Developing a local sense of civic pride  
• Uniting local people on issues affecting the Borough 
• Strong partnership approach to local solutions 
• Capacity building and sustainable approach to community engagement 
and community development which is inclusive and embraces the 
diversity of the borough 

 
The benefits of positive outcomes in terms of community cohesion can 
influence and make an impact upon the following: 
 
Increased sense of belonging 
Increased participation in community activity 
Increased satisfaction with services 
Increased participation in sports, leisure and cultural activities 
Reduced community tension 
Increased community interaction 
Reduced health inequalities 
Increased aspirations 
Reduced isolation 
Increased health and well-being 
Reduction in crime 
Pride of place 
Reduction in fear of crime 
Increased educational attainment 

Page 21



 

 
Corporate Services & Partnerships Policy Overview Committee 
 
Draft Final Report on the Community Cohesion review 

 
 
 

10 

 
 
The Role of the Council’s Stronger Communities Officer 
 
A central role to community cohesion for the Council and its strategic partners 
is played by the Stronger Communities Officer, who co-ordinates and drives 
forward many of the initiatives. 
 
The role provided:  

• Strategic and policy lead on community cohesion and integration   
• Advice and guidance on community cohesion across the Council 
• Advice, guidance and support to external partners 
• A community engagement and community development role in relation 
to community cohesion and integration 

 
A summary of some of the many activities that the Stronger Communities 
Officer was involved in were provided and these included: 
 

• Developing and Managing the Strong and Active Communities 
partnership and supporting partners in delivering the action plan 

• Supporting partners in the delivery of community cohesion and 
integration related projects which Included English for Speakers of 
other languages (ESOL), Hayes Carnival, Junior Citizens, Hayes and 
West Drayton and Yiewsley community engagement programmes, 
Peabody estate multi-agency partnership, Schools community 
cohesion partnership 

• Supporting Hillingdon’s Inter Faith Network in developing its activities 
• Supporting Women in the Community Network in developing its 
activities 

• Supporting the Hillingdon Traveller Forum 
• Support local Black, Asian and Minority Ethnic (BAME) community 
organisations 

• Working in partnership with the police to monitor and co-ordinate 
appropriate response on matters relating to community tensions and 
preventing violent extremism in the borough 

Page 22



 

 
Corporate Services & Partnerships Policy Overview Committee 
 
Draft Final Report on the Community Cohesion review 

 
 
 

11 

 
EVIDENCE & ENQUIRY 
 
For the witness sessions meetings were held on 18 September 2012, 16 
October 2012, 13 November 2012 and 6 February 2013. The Committee 
received evidence from: 
 
Fiona Gibbs – Stronger Communities Officer 
Carole Jones – Chair of Strong and Active Communities Partnership 
Lisa Dancer  - Curriculum and Quality Manager for Adult Learning 
Debbie Hunn - Curriculum and Quality Manager for Adult Learning 
Howard Griffin - Sports Development Officer - Sports and Leisure 
Daniel Waller - Arts and Libraries 
Khalida Obeida - Afghan Women's Group, Women in the Community Network 
and Refugees in Effective and Active Partnerships (REAP)) 
Duncan Struthers - Chair of Hillingdon Inter Faith Network  
John Seekings – Corporate Head of Communications 
 
Fiona Gibbs, the Stronger Communities Officer worked very closely with the 
Chair of the Partnership and they both provided the Committee with an 
overview of the work of the Partnership at the first witness session. 
  
Strong and Active Communities Partnership 
 
The Strong and Active Communities Partnership was established in April 
2009, as a theme group of the Local Strategic Partnership and was 
responsible for developing and monitoring actions to deliver the key priorities 
within the Council’s Sustainable Community Strategy around strong and  
active communities.  
 
The Committee was informed that the main aims of the partnership were:  
 

•  Building stronger communities;  
•  Delivering through community partnerships with an emphasis 
on building relationships and working with young people, 
schools and communities; and  

• Strengthening communities and promoting models of good 
practice as well as ways of working  

 
The partnership has established strong working relationships between the 
Council and its partners in responding to local community cohesion issues 
and developing pro-active and positive models of community development 
activities and engagement.  
 

Page 23



 

 
Corporate Services & Partnerships Policy Overview Committee 
 
Draft Final Report on the Community Cohesion review 

 
 
 

12 

The work very much relies upon the relationships established with local 
communities, voluntary sector and other statutory partners as well as other 
departments within the Council to deliver this agenda.  
 
The main priorities of the partnership were: 
 
Targeted local area partnership working around: 
 
• Participatory approaches to partnership working including identifying 
synergies with other theme group priorities e.g. reducing health 
inequalities and promoting health equalities, tackling crime and anti-social 
behaviour, improving outcomes for young people and economic 
development 

• Bringing local agencies and organisations together to work in partnership 
for benefit of the local community 

• Working with faith communities through Hillingdon Inter Faith network to 
build relationships and promote understanding 

• Work with schools to promote involvement of young people and families 
 
To promote and increase residents involvement in leisure and cultural 
activities across the Borough. 
 
• Sports & Leisure :  e.g Olympics 
• Culture & Arts :  e.g Jubilee Celebrations, Hayes Carnival, Arts Week 
• Learning & Development : e.g Adult Learning, English for speakers of ther 

languages (ESOL) provision 
 
Monitoring of community tensions and local issues, working with 
partners to respond accordingly and appropriately and inform future 
priorities 
 
• The prevention of violent extremism 
• The monitoring of tensions - This work is required by the Home Office and 

the Department for Communities and Local Government. The Council and 
Police share data and information and work together on tensions that 
impact on cohesion.   

 
Community Cohesion –  The Schools Community Cohesion Partnership 
and The Yeading Junior Experience (Working Together for better 
outcomes for children) 
 
Carole Jones, Chair of Strong and Active Communities Partnership and Head 
Teacher of Yeading Junior School provided the Committee with details of the 
work which had been carried out within many of the Borough’s schools, and in 
particular at Yeading Junior School where she was Head Teacher.  

Page 24



 

 
Corporate Services & Partnerships Policy Overview Committee 
 
Draft Final Report on the Community Cohesion review 

 
 
 

13 

 
It was acknowledged that this schools partnership was the only one of its kind 
in the country and the work with schools on community cohesion has been 
recognised as good practice. 
 
The Committee was informed that it was important for community cohesion 
work to take place in schools because: 
 

• Schools had a duty to promote community cohesion 
• The sharing of best practice in local schools could be shared across 
the Borough 

• Schools and extended schools had the ethos of being  community 
minded 

• Young people had an important role to play for the future 
• There was the opportunity to engage not only young people but also 
parents and the wider community 

• Sustainability 
• Partnership working 

 
The Schools Community Cohesion Partnership involves 23 schools working 
together to promote community cohesion within their local communities and 
improving parental engagement and raising aspirations of students. 
 
Members were provided with a short film on the Community Choir which had 
been formed from 5 schools, which involved 120 children and around 30 
parents. This project was one of the outcomes of the schools partnership in 
bringing schools, students and parents together on a community project. This 
project had been important in terms of integration of different groups and 
building relationships within communities and with local organisations. The 
choir rehearse in a local church which has enabled barriers to begin to 
breakdown within a diverse community. 
 
Reference was made to the Yeading Community House, situated next to 
Yeading School, which parents and residents from different community 
groups used to build relationships with others, form friendships and celebrate 
each others cultures and participate in educational and community learning 
programmes. This scheme had proved very successful and provided an 
opportunity for people to engage in programmes that built confidence, 
explored cultures, shared values and encouraged healthy active lifestyles and 
break down barriers with local services and individuals. 
 
Partnership Workshop to share best practice 
 
A conference is planned for March 2013 in partnership between Strong and 
Active Communities and Hillingdon Community Trust to share the learning 
from community cohesion programmes delivered and enable local community 

Page 25



 

 
Corporate Services & Partnerships Policy Overview Committee 
 
Draft Final Report on the Community Cohesion review 

 
 
 

14 

organisations, schools and other partners to work more effectively together to 
develop and deliver community cohesion outcomes for Hillingdon residents. 
 
  
The Committee noted the excellent engagement which was taking place and 
the positive contribution the work with the schools had to community cohesion 
and integration within the Borough. 
 
THEME: The community cohesion work which took place in 23 of the 
Borough’s school provided a firm basis for integration and participation 
of children and their parents from all groups within the Borough.  The 
events which were held helped cement further the relationships between 
all groups and provided the opportunity for information sharing and to 
engage with individuals and groups who perhaps would not have 
participated in community activities. 
   
 
Further discussion took place on the scope of the review and the 
Committee agreed that this be amended to focus on how the Council 
could reach out to more individuals of all backgrounds, particularly 
those groups and sections of the community who were difficult to 
engage with. In addition how did Council services communicate its 
services to the community, beyond the promotion of its services. What 
steps were taken to break down barriers to engage with groups which 
would enable them to interact and integrate with the rest of the 
community?   
 
Resident Services 
 
To this effect for the witness session in October the Committee sought the 
views of the Council’s Residents Services (Adult Education, Libraries and 
Sports and Leisure services) on how residents of the Borough accessed these 
services.   
 
Adult Learning 
 

• The service played a key role in the Strong and Active Communities 
Partnership and participated in local events offering taster sessions 
and workshops where current learners were able to exhibit their work 

• The service worked in partnership with Children’s Centres and schools 
to engage with typically “hard to reach” families in courses that include 
English for Speakers of other Languages (ESOL). 

• A wide range of provision was given for some 250 adults with Learning 
Difficulties and Disabilities (LDD). Reference was made to the Work in 
Supported Employment programme which was a 2 year qualification 

Page 26



 

 
Corporate Services & Partnerships Policy Overview Committee 
 
Draft Final Report on the Community Cohesion review 

 
 
 

15 

course which targeted young adults with LDD and which allowed 
residents to gain the skills and knowledge to equip them for work in the 
catering, business admin or horticulture sectors. These included 
vocational experience at the Disablement Association Hillingdon for 
Business Admin learners and volunteering at the Rural Activities and 
Garden Centre for Horticulture learners. 

• A wide range of qualifications were offered in English, Maths and 
ESOL in community and Adult Learning venues. These run as 
independent qualifications or may provide learners taking wider 
vocational qualifications such as Floristry and Childminding with 
opportunities to develop functional language and study skills to support 
their achievement 

• Work clubs took place in adult learning centres, libraries and at the 
Dotcom café in West Drayton 

• A wide range of Bespoke provision which targeted particular groups of 
learners in response to local and national priorities 

• A number of adult day classes took place which were attended by a 
higher proportion of women 

• A higher proportion of men attended evening classes  
• The service got involved in lots of community work and partnership 
work took place with schools to enable mothers to drop their children 
off at school, and then to attend adult education classes at children’s 
centres 

• There was a troubled family’s programme which aimed at reaching out 
to this group.  

• Reference was made to some people who were difficult to engage with 
and whom perhaps did not want to be reached 

• Work did take place with other service areas but information on service 
users was difficult to share because of Data Protection issues 

• Programmes took place with the Youth Offending Team to engage with 
young people 

• The service worked with partners such as Brunel University, Job 
Centre Plus and the volunteering service 

• Reference was made to the volunteering service who were working 
with young people in creating charities and opening up vacant shop 
premises to open them as “pop up” shops 

• Specifically targeted work took place, such as with vulnerable groups 
who were not in education 

• Workshop courses took place in community centres for the elderly 
which helped them develop their Information Technology skills and 
helped them interact and socialise with other people   

 
 
 
 

Page 27



 

 
Corporate Services & Partnerships Policy Overview Committee 
 
Draft Final Report on the Community Cohesion review 

 
 
 

16 

Libraries 
 

• There were 65,000 members of the Borough’s libraries and records 
were monitored on a monthly basis 

• All the Borough’s libraries had free computers which could be used by 
all individuals throughout the Borough, even people who were not 
members of the libraries 

• Libraries was an inclusive service and contributed greatly to 
community cohesion 

• The ethos of the library service was that the service was open to all 
people 

• Book were provided in different languages, there were large print 
books, talking books 

• Reference was made to the service reaching out to the young and old. 
Bookstart was a scheme whereby free books were given out to all 
children 

• Reference was made to the Summer reading sessions which took 
place throughout the Borough’s libraries and which were fully inclusive 

• The service worked very closely with schools and all children had 
access to books at libraries within schools 

• There were close links with children’s centres where there was a cross 
promoting of different Council services 

• “Coffee and Conversation” – This was where authors came into 
libraries to talk about their books and which gave the public, 
particularly the elderly, an opportunity to meet and interact in a social 
setting 

• The initial contact with one child did lead to other members of the 
child’s family engaging with the service 

• The introduction of E books would be looked at due to the popularity of 
the computers in libraries 

 
Sports and Leisure 
 

• Monthly reports were prepared on leisure usage which contained 
information on age, ethnic origins 

• An Active Survey carried out on behalf of Sport England indicated that 
around 50% of the population did not take part in any exercise or 
leisure activities 

• This Council had invested heavily in its leisure facilities which had had 
a natural uplift in participation in sports and leisure activities 

• In 2009/10 it was recorded that there had been 800,000 visits to sports 
and leisure facilities. In 2010/11 this had increased to 1.5million visits 

• The Back to Sport scheme encouraged residents to get back into sport 
with inexpensive sessions starting from £2. Activities took place in 
leisure centres and in parks and included badminton, archery fitness 

Page 28



 

 
Corporate Services & Partnerships Policy Overview Committee 
 
Draft Final Report on the Community Cohesion review 

 
 
 

17 

sessions. The aim of the scheme was to try and get people to make a 
lifestyle change 

• Promotions took place on the Council’s website, through Hillingdon 
People and with poster campaigns 

• There were activities for people with disabilities, activities for the over 
50s, activities for families which included grandparents which were 
examples of the service reaching out to all sectors of the community  

• At the Botwell Leisure Centre a mum’s fitness session took place 
straight after the school run and was targeted at those women who 
did not usually attend gym or fitness sessions. 

• The Council provided free swimming for the over 50s which attracted 
large numbers 

• There was a Leisure Link scheme which was linked to the Hillingdon 
First Card and provided discounts for leisure and sports facilities for 
people on benefits 

• Health links were made with the NHS, GPs and doctor’s surgeries and 
organisations such as Parkinson’s UK  

• In relation to the Disablement Association Hillingdon, day time 
activities took place in community facilities 

• Social network media was used such as Facebook, text messaging to 
promote benefits of sports and leisure 

 
The evidence received from the Council’s Residents Services was very 
encouraging and positive and indicated that the Council did encourage all 
people and groups within the Borough to access its services not just through 
formal written communication and promotion but the importance of face to 
face interaction and encouragement and building of relationships between 
services and the wider community. However, the Committee agreed that the 
challenge was getting messages across to those people who did not normally 
engage with public authorities.  
 
THEME: A great deal of work was carried out by Council’s services and 
there were many success stories.  
The importance of building relationships and interacting face to face 
with residents is key to sustaining engagement, particularly with those 
groups who are less likely to access services through other means. 
There is an opportunity for services to learn from each other what works 
and also to widen engagement through promoting more widely services 
from across the whole council not just their own service area. 
However further efforts could be made to reach out to those individuals 
and groups in the community who were not aware of the facilities and 
services which the Council offered its residents. What other means 
could be used to communicate services to further integrate and increase 
participation of more groups within the Borough ?    
 

Page 29



 

 
Corporate Services & Partnerships Policy Overview Committee 
 
Draft Final Report on the Community Cohesion review 

 
 
 

18 

Hillingdon’s Inter Faith Network  
 
The Chair of this organisation provided the review with details of the 
organisation’s work in relation to community cohesion, together with the aims 
of the Network. These were: 
 

• To hold regular inter faith network meetings, with faith leaders and 
community representatives where common issues could be discussed 

• To develop a programme of inter faith activities and events 
• To work together, supported by the police and the local authority, to 
develop strategies to address misunderstanding and local tensions 

• Acting as a resource for information on different faiths in the Borough 
• Participate in consultation activities and events with statutory and 
voluntary services to influence service development and delivery 

• To provide support to different faith communities in Hillingdon for the 
furtherance of the Network’s aims 

 
The Committee was informed that there were 110 faith buildings in the 
Borough. Buddhist, Christian, Hindu, Jewish, Jain, Muslim and Sikh faith 
buildings were documented in the database. 
 
An audit which had taken place highlighted that 48% of the activities were run 
for the wider community in comparison to 52% that have a religious emphasis. 
This was broken down to well over 1,000 different activities which ranged from 
activities for religious services, for community groups, for groups specifically 
for older people, youth groups, children’s groups, pre-school groups, activities 
where food and drink were sold or provided and self-support groups. This 
indicated the wide ranging community groups and activities which took place 
around the Borough. 
 
Reference was made to the inter faith work which took place where people 
from different religions learnt about other faiths and religions and often went to 
observe others at worship. This integrated people from different religions and 
gave an opportunity to learn more about other people and their religions. 
 
Members were informed of some of the work of the Network which included: 
 

• Regular themed network meetings bringing faith groups together with 
common concerns i.e benefits, housing, crime and safety, planning, 
young people 

• Work with schools and young people including faith in schools 
programme with volunteers from different faiths running workshops in 
local schools on social issues. A regular inter faith workshop in 
partnership with Swakeleys school that brings students from secondary 
schools from across the borough together to discuss matters relating to 

Page 30



 

 
Corporate Services & Partnerships Policy Overview Committee 
 
Draft Final Report on the Community Cohesion review 

 
 
 

19 

building inter faith understanding and dialogue. Involvement in a 
research project with Brunel University in relation to young people and 
religion and creating a DVD with sixth form students 

• Bringing faith leaders together from across the borough to act as a 
resource for guidance and dialogue in times of difficulty or tensions in 
the borough and to work in partnership with LBH and the Police as 
necessary 

• Maintaining the resilience? 
 

Reference was made to the excellent work which the Strong and Active 
Communities Partnership carried out and special thanks was paid to Fiona 
Gibbs, Stronger Communities Officer, who drove many of the initiatives 
forward.  
 
Women in the Community Network  
 
Throughout the review, the Committee had acknowledged the good work of 
many Women’s groups who are working in partnership with the Council and 
who support the work of the Strong and Active Communities Partnership. 
Members wanted to hear their views on the work which the Council did in 
relation to community cohesion and to assess whether there were any gaps in 
terms of communication from the Council, which would further improve access 
to Council services and encourage further integration of all groups within the 
Community.      
 
Khalida Obeid from the Afghan Women's Group who are part of the Women in 
the Community Network kindly provided Members with a summary of some of 
the activities of the groups she represented. 
 
The aims of the Women in the Community Network are: 

• To establish a network of women from different community groups 
and representatives from the diverse communities in Hillingdon to 
share and address the key issues facing women in the Borough 

• To empower women to make the difference they need within 
themselves, their families and communities 

• To promote a healthier understanding between women of different 
communities and backgrounds in Hillingdon 

 
The objectives of the Network were: 

• To increase partnership working amongst the various existing 
community groups supporting women in the Borough 

• To promote women to foster healthier lifestyles 
• To support women to feel safe and secure in the community 
• To equip women with appropriate skills, confidence and self esteem 
• To disseminate and celebrate the achievements of women 

Page 31



 

 
Corporate Services & Partnerships Policy Overview Committee 
 
Draft Final Report on the Community Cohesion review 

 
 
 

20 

• To facilitate and encourage women from different communities to 
access and participate in mainstream services 

• To support and empower women with parenting skills 
• To facilitate an arena for women to share and learn about each other 

and common issues they faced. These included: religion, the 
environment, community, citizenship, children’s education, health and 
employment. 

 
On a more personal level, the Committee was also provided with a summary 
of some of the work which took place within the Afghan Women’s Group who 
support Afghan women in the Borough: 
  

• Work took place with often isolated women from a male dominated 
culture 

• Work took place on building trust with the husbands of Afghan women 
to enable the Group to work with these women 

• Every Wednesday afternoon an English Language class was provided 
at a Children’s Centre. This was important as this enabled women to 
learn the language and culture of the country and to integrate better 
and not to feel as isolated 

• Work took place with the Council’s library service, adult education, 
leisure services to provide various activities for these women. These 
included swimming classes, knitting classes and helping women 
access the many services offered in libraries  

 
Reference was made to the good use which the organisation made of the 
Council’s libraries and Children’s Centres; however an area which the Group 
found difficult to access was after school clubs for children.  
 
The Committee heard that the information which the Council communicated 
was not always accessed by the community and this was an area which could 
be further investigated. The representative reported that she provided an 
information link to Afghan Women in the community and she would ensure 
Council information on services would be passed onto this group. 
 
The Committee noted that lots of information and communications was sent 
out to community groups that were part of the Network. In addition residents 
of the Borough also received Hillingdon People which was a source of useful 
information on Council services. 
 
The point was noted that some people, regardless of how much 
communication came from the Council, would not access this information how 
the Council’s many services. 
 

Page 32



 

 
Corporate Services & Partnerships Policy Overview Committee 
 
Draft Final Report on the Community Cohesion review 

 
 
 

21 

THEME: The Council through its Strong and Active Communities 
Partnership work had the links of communication to a large number of 
community groups and their lead representatives. Greater information 
could be disseminated through these representatives, centrally from the 
Council, to enable up to date information on Council services and 
events to be communicated to a wider audience. This could further 
enhance community cohesion and the integration and participation of 
people who would not usually be aware of what the Council offers. 
 
Corporate Communications and Communicating with residents 
 
The Council’s website and Hillingdon People provided good opportunities for 
the Council to reach out to all people and to promote greater integration and 
interaction of all individuals.  
 
The Committee was informed that Corporate Communications role is to help 
increase public and other stakeholder understanding of the services and 
policies of the Council.  This is done in three key ways: 
 
Core activities - including media relations, publications (such as Hillingdon 
People), corporate branding, marketing (leaflets, posters and displays) and 
digital media. 
 
Campaigns – these are linked to key service priorities and range from fully 
integrated campaigns (which includes some or all of the above) to event-
based or public information campaigns.  
 
Consultation and engagement – to help the Council understand current 
residents’ views, satisfaction levels and thinking on specific policy issues or 
services.  Examples include the annual residents’ survey or the recent 
consultation on changes to council tax benefits. 
 
Engaging with all individuals and residents 
 
The Council works hard to ensure that it communicates effectively with all  
communities, helping to ensure integration and cohesion.  Below are some 
examples of how the Council is engaging with individuals from different 
backgrounds and hard to reach groups, either through the Council’s day-to-
day activities or targeted projects. 
 
Hillingdon People 
 
The residents’ magazine is published six times a year and distributed door-to-
door to all of the Borough’s 113,000 households as well as libraries, leisure 
centres, nursing homes and public buildings to ensure everyone in the 
borough is kept well informed about the Council’s services.    

Page 33



 

 
Corporate Services & Partnerships Policy Overview Committee 
 
Draft Final Report on the Community Cohesion review 

 
 
 

22 

 
Large print and audio versions are also produced and delivered to residents 
requesting these services.  For those that would prefer to read HP online we 
publish a PDF and digital version.  We use plain English and adhere to Royal 
National Institute of Blind People guidelines to ensure wide accessibility. 
 Finally, each edition carries a contacts list for key Council services so that 
residents have a ready reference for information. 
 
Web and digital media 
 
The Council’s public website has been overhauled with improved design, 
navigation, functionality and content to deliver a first class customer service. 
 The site is DDA (Disability Discrimination Act) and Equality Act 2010 
compliant and meets the accessibility guidelines issued by the Worldwide 
Web Consortium. 
 
Over 40,000 residents are registered to report or request information online, 
which is a sizeable proportion of the Borough’s population. In rolling out the 
self-service option the Council have been monitoring take up from across 
communities and it reflects the profile of the Borough well.   
 
To further improve accessibility a mobile version of the website was launched 
at the end of November 2012.  There is also a Young Hillingdon version of the 
website, and the Youth Council of the Borough get involved in making 
decisions for the site.  
 
Residents of all ages follow the Council using social media such as Facebook, 
Twitter and YouTube, which is use to explain, warn and inform – as well as 
encourage residents to get involved in consultations. 
 
Campaigns and marketing 
 
A wide range of marketing materials including posters and leaflets for services 
and events for older people and those with disabilities have been introduced. 
The Council support programmes for younger people such as FIESTA and the 
Kids in Care Awards and extensive campaigns for fostering and adoption to 
support children in need. 
 
The majority of the Council’s priority one campaigns are aimed at all residents 
and care is taken to ensure inclusion regardless of age, social background, 
gender, disability, ethnicity and sexuality. Recent examples include the 
council’s anti-social behaviour (ASB) campaign which had the potential to 
unfairly feature young people as the main perpetrators of ASB and to 
reinforce negative stereotypes. It was also important to ensure that older 
people weren’t featured as the primary target of ASB as is often portrayed in 
the media. A campaign was therefore created using non age or gender 

Page 34



 

 
Corporate Services & Partnerships Policy Overview Committee 
 
Draft Final Report on the Community Cohesion review 

 
 
 

23 

specific characters instead of people and articles featured residents of all 
ages a backgrounds. 
 
Change 4Life Hillingdon and Feel PROUD campaigns were also targeted at 
all residents and featured residents of all ages highlighting the campaign 
through their own unique perspectives to help all residents identify with the 
campaign.  
 
All campaign and marketing work is designed to be accessible by the widest 
possible range of residents and we work hard with departments where 
specific tailoring is needed to meet specific residents’ service needs. This 
approach is also adopted in service areas that reach out to all residents such 
as our libraries, and care is taken to ensure that these outlets are used as key 
communication channels. 
 
Branding 
 
The Council’s branding guidelines call for all communications to be as clear 
and easy to understand as possible. Signage is designed to be uncluttered 
with a simple point of contact online or by telephone. We consider the needs 
of visually impaired residents with DDA compliant signs where appropriate.   
 
JOHN SEEKINGS IDEAS AND EVIDENCE IN HERE 
 

Page 35



 

 
Corporate Services & Partnerships Policy Overview Committee 
 
Draft Final Report on the Community Cohesion review 

 
 
 

24 

 
Examples of work in Hillingdon 
 
Some examples of the positive work that is being undertaken in Hillingdon 
include: 

• Hillingdon Improvement Programme workstreams in relation to Civic 
Pride and the borough’s Heritage    

• Supporting local groups: 
o Voluntary sector support including core grants  
o Support for the Hillingdon Inter Faith Network. 
o Women in the Community Network  

• Local Community Engagement including through Health Promotion 
• Community engagement, Pride of Place and Town centres 
programmes 

• Work with schools and the development of the Schools Community 
Cohesion Partnership. 

• Libraries – community engagement activities 
• Sport and Leisure programmes  
• Adult Education – community adult learning and ESOL provisions 
• Customer Engagement activities  
• Partnerships work in relation to building Stronger communities, 
community cohesion and managing community tensions 

 
Conclusion 
 
Achieving community cohesion is dependent upon a complex set of factors 
that impact upon individuals and community interactions. These factors 
include: establishing a sense of belonging, pride and aspiration, and identity 
with their local area and promoting a sense of fair treatment and equality of 
opportunity to achieve, in education and employment and wellbeing in life. 
Therefore, achieving community cohesion outcomes relies upon a joined up 
and co-ordinated approach across all aspects of the council’s services as well 
as with other local partners and local communities. 
 
Hillingdon’s approach reflects that complexity and draws together council 
services, other local statutory partners, voluntary sector and local 
communities with a shared set of actions based upon a core focus around 
promoting engagement, education, empowerment and active involvement. 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 36



 
Corporate Services & Partnerships POC  26 February 2013 

PART I – MEMBERS, PUBLIC & PRESS 
 

 

 
WORK PROGRAMME 2012/13 

Contact Officer: Khalid Ahmed 
Telephone: 01895 250833 

 
 
REASON FOR ITEM 
 
This report is to enable the Committee to review meeting dates and forward plans. This 
is a standard item at the end of the agenda. 
 
 
OPTIONS AVAILABLE TO THE COMMITTEE 
 

1. To confirm dates for meetings  
 

2. To make suggestions for future working practices and/or reviews.  
 
 
 
INFORMATION 
 
 
All meetings to start at 7.30pm 
 
 

Meetings  Room 
13 June 2012 CR 5 
24 July 2011 CR 5 
18 September 2012 CR 3 
16 October 2012 CR 5 
13 November 2012 CR 6 
6 February 2013 CR 6 
26 February 2013 CR5 
28 March 2013 CR5 
30 April 2013 CR5 

 
 

Agenda Item 6

Page 37



 
Corporate Services & Partnerships POC  26 February 2013 

PART I – MEMBERS, PUBLIC & PRESS 
 

 

Corporate Services & Partnerships Policy Overview Committee 
 
2012/13 DRAFT Work Programme 
 
Meeting Date Item 

Corporate Services & Partnerships Policy Overview 
Committee 
Review Topics 2012/13 

Work programme for 2012/13 

13  June 2012 

Cabinet Forward Plan 

 
 

Budget Planning Report for Central Services 

First Major Review  - Community Cohesion  - 
Scoping Report 

Work Programme 

24 July 2012 

Cabinet Forward Plan 

 
 

First Major Review - Community Cohesion   

Witness Session 1 

Cabinet Forward Plan 

18 September 2012 

Work Programme 

 
 

First Major Review  - Community Cohesion  

Witness Session 2 

Cabinet Forward Plan 

16  October 2012 
 
 

Work Programme 

  
First Major Review  - Community Cohesion  

Witness session 3 

Update on Generator at the Civic Centre 

Cabinet Forward Plan 

13  November 2012 
 

Work Programme 

 
 

Page 38



 
Corporate Services & Partnerships POC  26 February 2013 

PART I – MEMBERS, PUBLIC & PRESS 
 

 

  
 

Budget Proposals Report for Central Services 
2013/14 

Final Witness Session for Community Cohesion 
Review and Consideration of Draft Final Report 

Topic for Second Major Review in 2012/13 –  Safer 
Neighbourhood Policing – Presentation from the 
Council’s Anti Social Behaviour & Investigations 
Service Manager 

Cabinet Forward Plan 

6 February 2013 

Work Programme 

 
 

Final Witness Session for Community Cohesion 
Review and Consideration of Draft Final Report 

Cabinet Forward Plan 

26  February 2013 

Work Programme 

 
 

Second Major Review in 2012/13 –  Scoping Report 
and witness session  

Cabinet Forward Plan 

28  March 2013 

Work Programme 

 
 

Second Major Review in 2012/13 – 2nd Review    

The Role of School Police Officers 

Cabinet Forward Plan 

30  April 2013 

Work Programme 

 
 
 

Page 39



Page 40

This page is intentionally left blank



 
 

Corporate Services & Partnerships POC         26 February 2013 
PART I – MEMBERS, PUBLIC & PRESS 

 
 
 
 

 
 

Cabinet Forward Plan 
 

Contact Officer: Khalid Ahmed 
Telephone: 01895 250833 

 
REASON FOR ITEM 
 
The Committee is required to consider the Forward Plan and provide Cabinet with any 
comments it wishes to make before the decision is taken. 
 
OPTIONS OPEN TO THE COMMITTEE 
 
1. Decide to comment on any items coming before Cabinet 

 
2. Decide not to comment on any items coming before Cabinet 
 

INFORMATION 
 
1. The Forward Plan is updated on the 15th of each month. An edited version to include 

only items relevant to the Committee’s remit is attached below. The full version can 
be found on the front page of the ‘Members’ Desk’ under ‘Useful Links’. 

 
2. Attached for Members is the Forward Plan which was published around15 January.   
An updated version of the Forward Plan containing items which are relevant to the 
remit of this Committee will be circulated once the next Forward Plan is published, 
which is before the date of this meeting of the Committee. 

 
SUGGESTED COMMITTEE ACTIVITY 
 

1. Members decide whether to examine any of the reports listed on the Forward 
Plan at a future meeting. 

Agenda Item 7

Page 41



Page 42

This page is intentionally left blank



Ref Decision Further information Ward(s) R
ep
o
rt
 t
o
 F
u
ll 

C
o
u
n
ci
l

C
ab
in
et
 

M
em

b
er
(s
) 

R
es
p
o
n
si
b
le

O
ff
ic
er
 

C
o
n
ta
ct
 f
o
r 

fu
rt
h
er
 

in
fo
rm
at
io
n

C
o
n
su
lt
at
io
n
 

o
n
 t
h
e 

d
ec
is
io
n

N
E
W
 IT
E
M

P
ri
va
te
 

d
ec
is
io
n
?

890 Housing Benefit 
Contracts

Cabinet authority is requested to enter into a further 
agreement with Liberata plc to provide telephone 
answering and processing of Benefits Service 
telephone calls and the scanning and indexing of 
benefits documentation.

N/A Cllr 
Jonathan 
Bianco

FD - Rob 
Smith

New Private 
(3)

871 Consideration of the 
Abolished
Discretionary Social 
Fund

Cabinet will also consider the abolished discretionary 
Social Fund as part of the wider welfare reforms and 
make any necessary decisions on the scheme's 
design, rules and eligibility.

All Cllr Ray 
Puddifoot & 
Cllr 
Jonathan 
Bianco

F - Paul
Whaymand

801b The Council's Budget 
- Medium Term 
Financial Forecast 
2013/14 - 2016/17 & 
HRA Budget             
BUDGET & POLICY 
FRAMEWORK

This report will set out the Medium Term Financial 
Forecast (MTFF), which includes the proposed 
General Fund reserve budget, HRA budget and capital 
programme for 2013/14, along with indicative 
projections for the following three years. 

All 28-Feb-13 Cllr 
Jonathan 
Bianco & 
Cllr Ray 
Puddifoot

FD - Paul 
Whaymand 

Public 
consultation 
through the 
Policy 
Overview 
Committee 
process and 
statutory 
consultation 
with 
businesses & 
ratepayers

SI Voluntary Sector 
Leases Report 

Regular report on discounted leases to voluntary 
sector organisations that benefit residents and the 
wider community

All Cllr 
Jonathan 
Bianco

RS - Michael 
Patterson

Private 
(3)

Council Departments:    RS = Residents Services     SC&H =Social Care & Health      AD = Administration Directorate      FD= Finance Directorate

Cabinet meeting - 14 February 2013

Democratic Services - Tel: 01895 250470 or email: democratic@hillingdon.gov.uk                                           Page 1 This edition supersedes ALL previous editions

P
age 43



Ref Decision Further information Ward(s) R
ep
o
rt
 t
o
 F
u
ll 

C
o
u
n
ci
l

C
ab
in
et
 

M
em

b
er
(s
) 

R
es
p
o
n
si
b
le

O
ff
ic
er
 

C
o
n
ta
ct
 f
o
r 

fu
rt
h
er
 

in
fo
rm
at
io
n

C
o
n
su
lt
at
io
n
 

o
n
 t
h
e 

d
ec
is
io
n

N
E
W
 IT
E
M

P
ri
va
te
 

d
ec
is
io
n
?

Council Departments:    RS = Residents Services     SC&H =Social Care & Health      AD = Administration Directorate      FD= Finance Directorate

895 Amberley Lodge, 
Percy Bush Road, 
West Drayton

The Cabinet Member will be asked to consider a report 
on the disposal of Amberley Lodge.

West 
Drayton

Cllr Ray 
Puddifoot / 
Jonathan 
Bianco

RS - Richard 
Carden

New Private 
(3)

896 Langley Barn, adj to 
Langley Farm, 
Breakspear Avenue 
North, Harefield

The report seeks Cabinet Member authority to declare 
the land and barn surplus to requirements and to 
accept an offer.

Harefield Cllr Ray 
Puddifoot / 
Jonathan 
Bianco

RS - Richard 
Carden

New Private 
(3)

848 38 Burns Close, 
Hayes

The Cabinet Member will be asked to make a decision 
on the renewal of lease for electrical sub station 
adjacent to 38 Burns Close.

Barnhill / 
Charville

Cllr 
Jonathan 
Bianco

Boe 
Williams-
Obasi

New Private 
(3)

Cabinet Member Decisions - February 2013

Democratic Services - Tel: 01895 250470 or email: democratic@hillingdon.gov.uk                                           Page 2 This edition supersedes ALL previous editions

P
age 44



Ref Decision Further information Ward(s) R
ep
o
rt
 t
o
 F
u
ll 

C
o
u
n
ci
l

C
ab
in
et
 

M
em

b
er
(s
) 

R
es
p
o
n
si
b
le

O
ff
ic
er
 

C
o
n
ta
ct
 f
o
r 

fu
rt
h
er
 

in
fo
rm
at
io
n

C
o
n
su
lt
at
io
n
 

o
n
 t
h
e 

d
ec
is
io
n

N
E
W
 IT
E
M

P
ri
va
te
 

d
ec
is
io
n
?

Council Departments:    RS = Residents Services     SC&H =Social Care & Health      AD = Administration Directorate      FD= Finance Directorate

882 Continuation of the 
Vehicle Replacement 
Program (VRP) - 
2012/13

Following a compliant tender conducted by Corporate 
Procurement, Cabinet is requested to approve the 
recommendation and award of contract for the 
purchase of various vehicles in accordance with the 
VRP and/or give delegated authority to the relevant 
Cabinet Member and Deputy Chief Executive and 
Corporate Director, Residents Services to accept 
recommendation and contract award depending on the 
procurement timescales. 

N/A Cllr 
Jonathan 
Bianco

RS - David 
Fisher

Corporate 
consultees

New Private 
(3)

884 Delegation of powers 
to the England Illegal 
Money Lending Team

This report describes the national arrangements for 
tackling illegal money lending (loan sharks) in England, 
via the England Illegal Money Lending Team. Cabinet 
is asked to authorise the Deputy Chief Executive and 
Corporate Director of Residents Services, together 
with the Cabinet Member for Finance, Property and 
Business Services, to sign a delegation document and 
working protocol which would allow the Team to 
investigate and institute proceedings against illegal 
money lenders operating within the London Borough of 
Hillingdon.

All Cllr 
Jonathan 
Bianco

RS - Sue 
Pollitt

Corporate 
consultees

New

856 Beds in Sheds' in 
Hillingdon

The report will set out the issues relating to 'Beds in 
Sheds' in Hillingdon and explain what progress has 
been made to date in dealing with this. The report will 
seek Cabinet approval for the approach to be taken in 
the future.

Various Cllr Keith 
Burrows

RS - Jales 
Tippell

Cabinet meeting - 21 March 2013

Democratic Services - Tel: 01895 250470 or email: democratic@hillingdon.gov.uk                                           Page 3 This edition supersedes ALL previous editions

P
age 45



Ref Decision Further information Ward(s) R
ep
o
rt
 t
o
 F
u
ll 

C
o
u
n
ci
l

C
ab
in
et
 

M
em

b
er
(s
) 

R
es
p
o
n
si
b
le

O
ff
ic
er
 

C
o
n
ta
ct
 f
o
r 

fu
rt
h
er
 

in
fo
rm
at
io
n

C
o
n
su
lt
at
io
n
 

o
n
 t
h
e 

d
ec
is
io
n

N
E
W
 IT
E
M

P
ri
va
te
 

d
ec
is
io
n
?

Council Departments:    RS = Residents Services     SC&H =Social Care & Health      AD = Administration Directorate      FD= Finance Directorate

SI Voluntary Sector 
Leases Report 

Regular report on discounted leases to voluntary 
sector organisations that benefit residents and the 
wider community

All Cllr 
Jonathan 
Bianco

RS - Michael 
Patterson

Private 
(3)

Democratic Services - Tel: 01895 250470 or email: democratic@hillingdon.gov.uk                                           Page 4 This edition supersedes ALL previous editions

P
age 46



Ref Decision Further information Ward(s) R
ep
o
rt
 t
o
 F
u
ll 

C
o
u
n
ci
l

C
ab
in
et
 

M
em

b
er
(s
) 

R
es
p
o
n
si
b
le

O
ff
ic
er
 

C
o
n
ta
ct
 f
o
r 

fu
rt
h
er
 

in
fo
rm
at
io
n

C
o
n
su
lt
at
io
n
 

o
n
 t
h
e 

d
ec
is
io
n

N
E
W
 IT
E
M

P
ri
va
te
 

d
ec
is
io
n
?

Council Departments:    RS = Residents Services     SC&H =Social Care & Health      AD = Administration Directorate      FD= Finance Directorate

885 Lease renewals of 
shop premises

The report seeks Cabinet Member approval to formally 
complete the renewal of five business leases of shops.

Harefield, 
West 
Drayton, 
Manor, 
Uxbridge 
South, 
Hillingdon 
East

Cllr 
Jonathan 
Bianco

RS - M 
Henington

New Private 
(1,2,3)

886 Commercial Property 
Rent Reviews

The report updates the Leader and Cabinet Member on 
the implementation of several rent reviews on 
commercial property where the Council has leased out 
property. The report seeks approval to formally 
complete four rent reviews, where the Council is 
landlord. 

West 
Drayton, 
Yiewsley, 
Manor, 
Hillingdon 
East

Cllr Ray 
Puddifoot / 
Cllr 
Jonathan 
Bianco

RS - Susan 
Williams-
Joseph

Corporate 
consultees

New Private 
(1,2,3)

867 Council Tax
Collection and
Recovery Processes
and Procedures

The Cabinet Member will be asked to approve a
revised Council Tax Collection and Recovery 
Processes and Procedures document which takes into 
account the changes to Council Tax following the 
abolition of Council Tax Benefit.

All Cllr Ray 
Puddifoot / 
Cllr 
Jonathan 
Bianco

FD - Rob 
Smith

SI Standard Items taken 
each month by the 
Cabinet Member

Cabinet Members make a number of decisions each 
month on standard items - details of these standard 
items are listed at the end of the Forward Plan. 

Various All AD - 
Democratic 
Services 

Various

Cabinet Member Decisions - March 2013

Democratic Services - Tel: 01895 250470 or email: democratic@hillingdon.gov.uk                                           Page 5 This edition supersedes ALL previous editions

P
age 47



Ref Decision Further information Ward(s) R
ep
o
rt
 t
o
 F
u
ll 

C
o
u
n
ci
l

C
ab
in
et
 

M
em

b
er
(s
) 

R
es
p
o
n
si
b
le

O
ff
ic
er
 

C
o
n
ta
ct
 f
o
r 

fu
rt
h
er
 

in
fo
rm
at
io
n

C
o
n
su
lt
at
io
n
 

o
n
 t
h
e 

d
ec
is
io
n

N
E
W
 IT
E
M

P
ri
va
te
 

d
ec
is
io
n
?

Council Departments:    RS = Residents Services     SC&H =Social Care & Health      AD = Administration Directorate      FD= Finance Directorate

SI Voluntary Sector 
Leases Report 

Regular report on discounted leases to voluntary 
sector organisations that benefit residents and the 
wider community

All Cllr 
Jonathan 
Bianco

RS - Michael 
Patterson

Private 
(3)

Cabinet meeting - 24 April 2013

Democratic Services - Tel: 01895 250470 or email: democratic@hillingdon.gov.uk                                           Page 6 This edition supersedes ALL previous editions

P
age 48



Ref Decision Further information Ward(s) R
ep
o
rt
 t
o
 F
u
ll 

C
o
u
n
ci
l

C
ab
in
et
 

M
em

b
er
(s
) 

R
es
p
o
n
si
b
le

O
ff
ic
er
 

C
o
n
ta
ct
 f
o
r 

fu
rt
h
er
 

in
fo
rm
at
io
n

C
o
n
su
lt
at
io
n
 

o
n
 t
h
e 

d
ec
is
io
n

N
E
W
 IT
E
M

P
ri
va
te
 

d
ec
is
io
n
?

Council Departments:    RS = Residents Services     SC&H =Social Care & Health      AD = Administration Directorate      FD= Finance Directorate

SI Voluntary Sector 
Leases Report 

Regular report on discounted leases to voluntary 
sector organisations that benefit residents and the 
wider community

All Cllr 
Jonathan 
Bianco

RS - Michael 
Patterson

Private 
(3)

Cabinet meeting - 23 May 2013

Democratic Services - Tel: 01895 250470 or email: democratic@hillingdon.gov.uk                                           Page 7 This edition supersedes ALL previous editions

P
age 49



P
age 50

T
his page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Minutes of Meeting held on 6 February 2013
	5 Major Review - Community Cohesion
	Appendix 1 Comms evidence
	Appendix 2 - Draft final report

	6 Work Programme
	7 Forward Plan
	FP


